ORIGINAL

FILED

SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 14 1997

CASENO.:90.07.1

District Court of Appeal, Fifth District Case No.:95-308

Chief Deputy Clerk

GERI E. FINLEY Appellant, vs. DENNIS SCOTT, Appellee

AN APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT

APPELLANTS INITIAL BRIEF

HARRY H. MORALL, II, Attorney At Law MORALL & CAREY, ATTORNEYS 905 W. Colonial Drive Orlando, FL 32804 Florida Bar No.: 364797 Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENTS OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Appellant filed a complaint to establish paternity against the then putative father on September 13, 1993 (RI-2). A motion for temporary relief was filed on September 17, 1993 (R14-15), followed by an amended complaint on September 20, 1993 (R16-18). On December 12, 1993, a hearing was held to determine temporary child support and the child support guidelines were presented as evidence by the appellant (R62). On January 24, 1994, the Court entered a temporary order adjudicating paternity based on HLA results, awarding temporary primary responsibility for and residential custody of minor child to the mother, and ordering temporary child support to be paid to the mother in the amount of \$5,000.00 per month (R95-98).

A final hearing was held on December 1, 1994 (R189). In the final judgement (R232-251) the court held that 1) The Appellant would receive \$5,000 .OO per month as child support, (which is less than the amount imposed by F.S.6130(6)). 2) That 3,000.00 of the amount would be paid to a guardianship established by the father, 3) That the father would be required to provide health insurance for the benefit of the minor child and a decreasing term life insurance policy insuring the life of the father, 4) That the mother application for retroactive child support was denied. The final judgement was appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. An opinion was rendered on February 7, 1997, holding that the child support award be limited to the amount needed to currently support the child in an appropriate standard of living and not to provide a future, unspecified use.

The Fifth District Court of Appeals upheld the trial courts deviation from statutory child support guidelines. It is that opinion which is the subject of the Notice for Discretionary Review which was filed February 26, 1997.

In this Appeal, the Appellant shall be referred to as Mother or the Appellant and the Appellee shall be referred to as the Father. All references to the record shall be proceeded by "R" in parenthesis. All references to transcripts of proceedings shall be proceeded by "T" in parenthesis.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Legislature has established guidelines for child support cases in this State. The Supreme Court of Florida and appellate courts have held that these guidelines are mandatory. The Fifth District Court of Appeal erred in affirming the decision of the trial court.

The Courts have also ruled that a parent may be entitled to retroactive child support from the time of the filing of the action, Appellant asserts that her complaint was timely filed and seeks such retroactive payment. Finally, no statute or case law provides for child support payments to be encumbered in separate trust accounts or guardianship. The law has designated those funds to be paid directly to the custodial parent for the benefit of the child.

<u>ARGUMENT I</u>

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT **OF** APPEAL ERRED IN NOT AWARDING THE MONTHLY CHILD SUPPORT AMOUNT AS DETERMINED BY THE STATUTORY GUIDELINES.

A, FEDERAL LAW MANDATES THAT STATES ESTABLISH AND ADHERE TO CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINES.

In 1984, Congress passed the Child Support Enforcement Amendments(CSEA), mandating that a state must create a mathematical formula for courts to use at their discretion when awarding child support, as a condition to receive Federal Aid to Families with Dependent Children (AFDC). This was in response to the enormous burden that was placed on the general public as custodial parents were forced to rely on AFDC, due to the inadequate child support awards determined by the courts. A study spotlighting the inadequacy of the case-by-case approach revealed that in 1983, noncustodial parents owed \$10 billion, of which only \$7 billion was actually paid. See, I. Garfinkel and D. Oellerich, Noncustodial fathers' ability to pay child support. Demography 26:219-33 (May 1989). The study goes further to explain that if the two most widely used guidelines were applied in 1983, noncustodial parents would have owed between \$25 and \$32 billion in child support. Id.

Unfortunately, the CSEA was not as **effective** as Congress hoped, and in 1988 was amended to require that guidelines be presumptive, allowing deviations only if the court justified its departure in writing. **See**, Robert G. Williams, An Overview of Child **Support Guidelines** in the United States, in CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINES: THE NEXT

GENERATION 1 (Margaret Campbell Haynes ed., 1994). The federal government requires states to establish one set of guidelines for setting and modifying child support awards. Sec. 45 C.F.R. 302.56 (a). The state guidelines must consider all earnings and income of the absent parent; be based on specific descriptive and numeric criteria and result in a computation of the support obligation; and provide for the child(ren)'s health care needs, through health insurance coverage or other means. Sec. 45 C.F. R. 302.56(c). The federal government wanted support orders to be more consistent with economic evidence of child rearing costs, assure equitable and comparable treatment of cases, and be efficiently adjudicated. Robert G. Williams. An Overview of Child Support Guidelines in the United States. in CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINES: THE NEXT GENERATION 1 (Margaret Campbell Haynes ed., 1994).

In compliance with the federal requirements, Florida has adopted a set of guidelines that are based on the **Income** Shares Formula, that is currently used by thirty-three other states. This formula is based on the assumption that children should receive a portion of both of their parents' income, regardless of whether the parent's live together or not. The chart found in sec. **61.30(6)** is based on the average consumer spending on behalf of children by a two-parent family of the same level of combined income and the same number of children, excluding expenditures on child care, extraordinary medical costs, or health insurance. The guidelines consider the gross income of both parents to obtain the support obligation, then each parent is assigned their proportional share. Sec. 61.30.

In 1993, section 61.13, Florida Statutes (1993), was amended to clarify that the child support guidelines are **mandatory**. See, Final Bill Analysis & Economic Impact Mattement of the House of Representative Comui <u>diciary to CS/HB 707 (1993).</u> The legislature also amended section 61.30, Florida Statutes (1993), in response to cases where courts held that the child support guidelines were not to be applied automatically. Huff v. Huff, 556 So.2d 537 (Fla 4th DCA 1990); Todesco v. Todesco, 583 So.2d 774 (Fla 4th DCA 1991); Anava v. Anava, 591 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992); Trudell v. Williams. 593 **So.2d** 328 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) ("The child support guidelines, as helpful as they may be to an overburdened court, should not be automatically applied; the court should consider both the needs of the child and the overall financial circumstances of the parties.") By rejecting the aforementioned cases, the legislature rejected the notion that the courts consider the needs of the child, with the exception of extraordinary needs, which are set out in section 61.30 (1 I), Florida Statutes (1993). Section 61.30(1)(a), Florida Statutes, (1993) authorizes the courts to vary no more than five percent, up or down, from the guidelines upon a written finding on the record, explaining why ordering payment of guideline amount would be unjust or inappropriate. However, as courts determine what is just, appropriate, and equitable, they must take into consideration the best interests of the child. 45 C.F.R. Sec. 302.56 (3)(g).

The legislature also amended section 61.30 (1993), Florida Statutes to conform to the federal guidelines' requirement that there be no cap on the application of the guidelines, by increasing the maximum combined monthly income in the schedule to

\$100,000 and to add that combined incomes greater than \$100,000 shall be obligated to pay the minimum amount of support provided by the schedule plus a percentage multiplied by the amount of income over \$100,000. Chapter 93-208, 2 at 1603, Laws of Florida. That the legislature added the percentages to the statute anticipating that some children would and should be entitled to more than a monthly amount as provided by the schedule.

Section 61.30, Florida Statutes, (1993), is clear and unambiguous, therefore courts do not have to interpret much upon its reading. Not only is the statute unambiguous, but the legislature made clear its intent that child support guidelines were mandatory, in their final bill analysis. The Fifth District Court of Appeal did not follow the lead of the Second District Court of Appeal referring to the bill analysis in **Boyt 6** RomanovSo.2d 9 9 5 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995) (holding that chapter 61.30, Florida Statutes, (1993) is mandatory). In **Boyt**, the noncustodial father, in a paternity action, argued that if the three year old child with no disabilities actual needs were \$1,500 per month, then he should not be required to pay the guideline amount of \$2,654.09. Id. The Second DCA agreed with the trial court's conclusion that it was required to apply guidelines to determine the appropriate amount of child support, and rejected the father's argument as being without merit. Id.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Department of Health and Rehabilitative</u>

<u>Services v. Schwass</u>, 622 So.2d 579 (1993), held that the child support order was to be consistent with the statutory guidelines. In <u>Schwass</u>, the former wife sought reversal of an Order of Support requiring the former husband to only pay \$108 per month, when the

statutory guidelines required him to pay \$190.62 per month, for one child. <u>Id.</u> The trial court entered a written order explaining that it deviated from guidelines because it disagreed with the deductions from gross income permitted by statute and because of the former husband's attempt to rehabilitate himself from a drug problem. <u>Id.</u> at 580. In that opinion, the Fifth District Court of Appeal ruled that the guidelines were "mandatory and must be followed in order to achieve stability and uniformity in the area of child support." <u>Id.</u> [citing <u>Neal v. Meek</u>, 591 So.2d 1044 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991)]. The court would not allow a deviation from the guidelines for a recovering drug addict father, who was making a noble attempt to change and improve his life, holding "public policy requires that parents who are financially able, support their children. <u>Id.</u>

In the instant case, the noncustodial father would be required to pay \$10,011 per month based on the guidelines. The father argued that the guidelines were unconstitutional, and that the mother did not show the <u>need</u> for \$10,011. The trial court only awarded the child \$5,000 per month, of which \$3,000 were to be placed into a guardianship, leaving the child \$2,000 per month to live. The trial court's only explanation for its deviation from the guidelines was that \$5,000 was more reasonable by <u>his standard</u>. (Emphasis added). The arguments the Fifth District Court of Appeal used in <u>Schwass</u> also apply in the instant case. Nevertheless, in the instant case, the appellate court held that the award of child support should be limited to the amount needed to currently support the child in an appropriate standard of living. Thereby, affirming the trial court's determination that \$2,000 was enough to adequately support the child, which is \$8,011 less than the

guideline amount, without a written finding, or **specific** finding in the record, explaining why ordering payment of guidelines amount would be unjust or inappropriate. **See**, Section 61.30 (I)(a), Florida Statutes, (1993). This section has not been used to justify downward deviations when the noncustodial father feels the child support guideline amount is too high. **See**. **Boyt**, **supra**.

The distinctions **between** the instant case and <u>Schwass</u>, is that the child in <u>Schwass</u> was legitimate with a father that grossed \$1,065 per month; while the child in the instant case was born out of wedlock to a father with a gross income of over \$200,000 per month. The Florida Legislature has not violated federal guidelines by creating a different set of guidelinesformillionairesorillegitimatechildren. 45 C.F.R. 302.56 (a). The Fifth District Court of Appeal is violating the federal guidelines and the intent of the Florida Legislature in its application of section 61.30, Florida Statutes, in the instant case, and its application violates the federal and state equal protection laws as well. <u>See, North v. State</u>, 65 So.2d 77 (1953), cert. granted 74 S.Ct. 108, affirmed 74 S.Ct. 376, ("Equality before law and uniformity as to person, place, practice and procedure are essential to proper administration of justice.").

B. THE APPELLATE COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE CHILD'S STANDARD OF LIVING MUST BE INFLUENCED BY THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CUSTODIAL PARENT.

Justice Sharp, dissenting in the instant case, pointed out that "the crux of the difficulty is settling on whose standard of living determines the needs of this child." Fortunately, this Honorable Court has already addressed the issue. In Miller v. Schou, 616 So. 2d 436 (Fla. S. Ct. 1993) the noncustodial father, an anesthesiologist, did not want to provide financial information to his ex-wife in order to determine the appropriate amount of child support. This successful anesthesiologist was willing to pay \$3,000 per month for the child's needs. **Id.** at 436. However, this Court stated that the needs of the child was only one factor to be considered. <u>Id.</u> This Court also noted that the amount of support would be drastically different if the father made two hundred thousand dollars a year or ten million dollars a year. Id, This Court recognized that the child of a multimillionaire is entitled to share in that **appropriate** standard of living, and would therefore be entitled to a greater award of child support. <u>Id.</u> Finally, this Court held that the child is only entitled to share in the good fortune of her parent consistent with an appropriate lifestyle. Id. Therefore, it is vital that the **court** rule as to what is the **appropriate** lifestyle for the minor child in the instant case, consistent with Miller v. Schoy supra.

In the instant case, the father lives a lavish lifestyle, with an elegant home, a luxury automobile, and expensive clothing and jewelry. (T154-155 & T165-166) This is not a case where the father earns millions of dollars, but lives a meager lifestyle. The child would live a much different lifestyle if the father were the custodial parent Throughout the

opinion and the dissents, the mother is being attacked for purchasing an automobile and paying off credit cards with funds from the child support. How can the young child share in the lifestyle of her father if her mother cannot spend child support money on some of the same items the child would enjoy if she was with her father? The mother would not qualify to purchase a home with bad credit. Nor can a child enjoy an automobile, unless her custodial parent drives it.

Although the intended use of child support is to support the minor child, the <u>reality</u> is that everyone in the household will benefit. To ensure that the minor child has a place to live and food to eat while in the custody of the mother, the father ensures that the mother and her other children have a place to live and food to eat. Is the court suggesting that the mother in the instant case treat her children differently because they have different fathers? Should the appellee's daughter eat steaks, while her siblings eat hot dogs? Should electricity only flow through the room of the appellee's daughter? The appellee was aware of the appellant's financial condition, and of her other daughters before his daughterwasconceived. If the appellee did not want the appellant and her two daughters to share in his good fortune, then he should not have conceived a child with appellant; or he could have sought custody of his daughter. The burden of this reality should fall on the appellee, and not his innocent minor child.

Neither the trial court, nor the Fifth District Court of Appeal considered the best interest of the child in the instant case. Both courts are of the opinion that this child,

whose father lives the lifestyle of the rich and famous, has to live at a standard substantially below that of her father, because her mother is unable to live at the same standard. This sentiment would lead to bad public policy in Florida. Florida is home to many millionaires; professional athletes, television and movie stars, recording artists, theme park executives, and other professionals. Florida, like the rest of the country, has many women and children that require state assistance just to live at poverty level. This public policy would suggest to wealthy men to conceive children with poverty-stricken women to keep child support payments low.

ARGUMENT II

CHAPTER 61, FLORIDA STATUTES, DOES NOT GIVE COURTS THE AUTHORITY TO CREATE TRUSTS WITH CHILD SUPPORT MONIES.

The appellant agrees with the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversing the trial court's order to place \$3,000 into a guardianship for the minor child. However, the appellant does not follow the reasoning the appellate court used to support their holding. The Fifth District Court rejects the ruling in Bovt.v.. Romanow, by interpreting Miller.v.. Schou, 664 So. 2d 995 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). In Bovt., the trial court determined the father's support obligation, based on the guidelines, to be \$2,654.09 per month. 664 So.2d 995 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). However, the court determined that only \$1,500 was "reasonable and necessary to meet the child's needs."Id.. Thereby leaving \$1,154 as good furtune support. Id. (defining "good fortune" as the difference between the guideline amount and the actual amount the court determines the child needs). The Second District Court of Appeal agreed that the court could establish a trust account for child support with sufficient detail and direction, if the custodial parent did not submit an acceptable plan. Id at 996. The appellant contends that with the Second District Court of Appeal's ruling is not authorized by case law or statute.

The Second District Court of Appeal incorrectly interpreted Section 61.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes, as giving authority to create a trust with child support. <u>Id.</u> Section 61.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes, states:

The court initially entering a child support order shall also have continuing jurisdiction to require the obligee to **report** to the court on terms prescribed by the court regarding the disposition of the child support payments.

This section authorizes the court to order that the custodial parent give an accounting to the court. See, e.g. Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. Trovillo, 516 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987)(holding that section 61 .13(I)(a) authorizes the trial court to require the custodial parent to make a quarterly accounting to the court as to the expenditure of child support payments). The Second District Court of Appeal uses **Nash** v. Mule, 846, SW. 2d 803 (Tenn. 1993) a Tennessee case, to illustrate that the creation of a trust can be mandated by the court. Boyt at 996, [*846 S.W.2d 803 (Tenn. 1993)]. However, it fails to mention that the Tennessee child support guidelines has an explicit provision for the use of trusts in cases involving high income parents, where the net income of the obligor exceeds \$6,250.00 per month. See, Tenn. Comp. R. 8 Regs. Ch. 1240-2-4-.04(2)(a). If Florida courts want to create trusts with child support, then they need to lobby the legislature to amend section 61.13(1)(a), Florida Statutes. The Florida Constitution does not allow the judicial branch of government to make law **See**, e.g., **In** Re Advisory Opinion to Govenor, 276 So.2d 25 (1973); White v. Johnson, 59 So.2d 532 (1952); Brown v. State, 358 So.2d 12 (1978) ("The State Constitution requires a certain precision defined by the Legislature, not legislation articulated by the judiciary.")

The Fifth District Court of Appeal in Cames v. Revels, 534 So.2d 900 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), held that it was an abuse of the Courts discretion to order a divorced father to deposit \$350.00 of child support each month in a trust account until the child reached majority, only to be withdrawn upon order of the Court. It also rejected the idea of creating a trust in the instant case. Due to the opposing opinions on the issue of creating child

support trusts among the Florida appellate courts, there are currently two laws.

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