01A - 10-6-97 8.33

THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 90,071

CH I

GERI FINLEY,

Appellant/Petitioner,

vs.

٠

DENNIS SCOTT,

Appellee/Respondent.

CE 11 15971

The state water and the

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS, FIFTH DISTRICT

Case No. 95-308

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

MICHAEL R. WALSH, ESQUIRE Florida Bar #084444 326 North Fern Creek Avenue Orlando, Florida 32803-5498 (407) 896-943 1

Attorney for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Final Judgment is replete with well-reasoned explanations as to why the trial court chose to depart from applying the percentage application of combined parental income in excess of \$10,000 per month and which would have been computed to be over \$10,000 per month for the support of a twenty-two month old child.

In entering these findings of fact, the trial court accurately cited the trial evidence and the reasonable inferences arising from it.

Point One should be affirmed, and the District Court opinion approved.

Under Point Two, the requirement that Respondent pay to the guardian of the property \$3,000 per month to be placed in a guardianship savings account has no support in the record.

There is no reason stated in the Final Judgment, nor made on the record, as to why such a savings account is necessary, and the evidence in its entirety supports the view that there is no residential, health, religious, recreational, or educational exigency of the minor child which is not otherwise being paid from the direct monthly support of Respondent to Petitioner or from Petitioner's own sources of income and in accordance with her reciprocal parental responsibility.

Furthermore, since a married parent cannot be legally required to save \$3,000 per month for a minor child, or any other amount, Respondent suggests that it is a constitutional violation to require an unmarried parent to do so.

The aftirmance of this judicially imposed obligation cannot be squared with established *stare decisis* prohibiting an adult child from seeking post-majority support from a parent or having a judicial award made which would circumvent this principle of law or act as

-12-

a substitute for it.

Lastly, the long-term consequence of establishing such a savings plan is to permit the minor child to become an indirect business partner of her father and be entitled to an "economic windfall" upon majority. Also, it is well to consider that the distribution and receipt of such monies will unconstitutionally discriminate against other eighteen year old adults who are not fortunate enough to be recipients of such a judicial award.

Even if this Court were to fashion a rationale for creating a guardianship trust or savings account device for future "good fortune child support awards," this Court should, nevertheless, affirm the decision of the District Court as to this point of law and approve its decision based upon the record evidence in this appeal,

Point Three, relative to the trial court's failure to award retroactive child support to Petitioner to the date of the filing of her Complaint, should likewise be affirmed because the record supports a finding that in the twenty-two month life of this child, Respondent has paid for her support almost \$70,000.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN AFFIRMING THE FAILURE OF THE TRIAL COURT TO AWARD TO PETITIONER THE FULL AMOUNT OF MONTHLY CHILD SUPPORT DETERMINED AND COMPUTED BY AN APPLI-CATION OF THE FLORIDA CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINE SCHEDULE.

Petitioner contends under this Point that when this action was tried in December 1994, the trial court had <u>no</u> discretion other than to award to her the full amount established by an application of the amended Florida Child Support Guidelines, F.S. 61.30(6), to the combined monthly parental income of the parents and which totaled in excess of \$10,000 per month for a twenty-two month old minor child. She maintained this position in the District Court and continues to do so.

The child support guidelines were enacted by the legislature effective July 1, 1987. Two years later, a legislative amendment provided that a trial judge may depart from the guidelines and enter either an initial or modified child support order in differing amounts, provided that written findings of fact supporting the same were made or specific reasons entered on the record. Effective October 1, 1993, no written findings or specific reasons need be given if the trial court chose only to vary by 5%, either way, as to the amount determined by a computation of the child support guideline payment schedule.

Child support guidelines need not be applied automatically, and a trial court is always free to adjust the amount established by them if good and valid reasons exist, <u>Hillman v.</u> <u>Hillman</u>, 567 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), <u>Huff v. Huff</u>, 556 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), <u>Todesco v. Todesco</u>, 583 So. 2d 774 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991), <u>Touchstone v. Touchstone</u>, 579 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), <u>Short v. Short</u>, 577 So. 2d 723 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), and <u>Reynolds v. Reynolds</u>, 668 So. 2d 245 (Fla. 1 st DCA 1996).

If the Petitioner is correct that there are no limits as to how much a parent should legally be obligated to spend on a child, then how can she explain the second sentence of F.S. 61.30(1)(a) which states:

The trier of fact may order payment of child support which varies, plus or minus 5%, from the guideline amount after considering all relevant factors, including the needs of the child or children, age, station, standard of living, and financial status and ability of each parent.

Why are these factors then necessary? Should not the trial court entertain evidence from both parents upon a challenge to the scheduled guideline amount as to these statutory factors and make a decision after weighing them? Are not these factors <u>always</u> subsumed into any reasonable child support award in high income cases using the guidelines <u>only</u> as a reference point in making mathematical additions to or subtractions from the scheduled payment? Should this not be a rule of law as to percentage plus cases like this one?

Another interesting question to be asked at this point is that if a trial court can require a custodial parent to report to the court regarding the disposition of child support payments, F.S. 61.13(1)(a), doesn't the court have the same discretion to explore the itemized expenses proposed by that parent for the minor child and in keeping with what that parent represents to the court to be a comfortable and appropriate standard of living for him or her?³

³ The parent with whom the minor child resides is the one who makes the day-to-day decisions with reference to the present and future lifestyle of the minor child in his or her care. Further, he or she has personal and intimate knowledge of the plans and goals for the minor child and, accordingly, is the one best equipped to offer evidence as to an appropriate and comfortable standard of living for **the** minor child. Requiring the custodial parent to shoulder this burden of proof is not an onerous task and one which the courts traditionally required a custodial parent to bear even before the enactment of the child support guidelines. It would appear that where the **parties** had never resided together and, thus, establish a **standard** of living, the positioning of the burden of proof in this manner is the only logical choice.

Doesn't the trial court have the ultimate responsibility to either accept or reject the proposed budget submitted by the requesting parent?

Judge Miller carefully evaluated the \$10,000 per month child support claim requested by Petitioner. In so doing, he likewise considered the counter-arguments of Respondent, including the unconstitutionality of the child support guidelines in general and its application to the facts of this action in particular. He then decided to depart from the guideline amounts, F.S. 61.30(1)(a), and, in doing so, devoted twenty-seven paragraphs in the Final Judgment detailing his reasons (paragraphs 11 through 37, R 235-245).

If anyone has even a scintilla of doubt as to the trial court's election to award less than the monthly child support as provided for in the guidelines, one only has to review the record and look at the factual patterns which developed during the ten-month period that Petitioner acted as trustee for the payment of \$50,000 of temporary child support received by her.

Despite the foregoing, Petitioner suggests that the case of <u>Department of Health</u> and <u>Rehabilitative Services v. Schwass</u>, 622 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), establishes a "per se" rule of law in this state requiring a trial court to strictly abide by the mathematical determinations resulting from an application of the child support guidelines, and that a failure to do so is, *ipso facto*, an abuse of judicial discretion.

Respondent submits that this decision does not stand for this proposition of law at all but merely reaffirms the discretion of the trial judge to deviate from the guideline amounts, if fair and equitable reasons exist for doing so, and these are clearly stated in the record or court order being appealed.

Equally misplaced is Petitioner's reliance upon Miller v. Schou, 616 So. 2d 436

(Fla. 1993) (A-3). Although this decision concludes that a child is entitled to share in the good fortune of his parents, it does not hold that, in making such awards, the trial court must approve either unnecessary or extravagant monthly expenditures or those inuring to the private financial aggrandizement of the custodial parent. Rather, child support awards should be the result of an analysis of the bona fide or actual needs of the child and with a comparable view toward an appropriate and comfortable lifestyle for him or her.

Lastly, it should be noted that all three of the dissenting judges of the Fifth District rejected Petitioner's argument as to this point of law. Each of them found that the trial judge was not bound to blindly apply the guideline schedule amount sought by her and which may, thus, lead to an unintended and unreasonable result, <u>Finley.</u> supra (at 345, 348, and 350).

Alternatively, under this point of law, Petitioner urges that the *en banc* opinion of the Fifth District also improperly rejected an award of full guideline child support to her because it was influenced by her lifestyle and economic circumstances. In reality, what the Petitioner is saying is that an award of \$10,011 per month would have been reasonable if it were based upon the hypothesis that the standard of living applicable to the minor child in this action⁴ was that of the non-residential parent, Dennis Scott, rather than the custodial parent, Geri Finley, In reaching this conclusion, the Petitioner, however, completely overlooks the element of <u>need</u> implicit in any child support award. She would now, however, urge this Court to review future awards only by comparing the post-judgment financial circumstances of each of the parents. This

⁴This is the position of Judge Sharp in her dissent, <u>Finley</u>, supra, at 345 and 346. Respondent submits that it requires a judge to decide cases not on the facts at hand but rather on merely speculation and guesswork.

residential custodian of the minor child, as well as the fact that the obligor can well afford it, and the child support guidelines say so!

In Jane Doe VI v. Richard Rowe VI, 736 P. 2d 448 (Hawaii Ct, App. 1987), it was held that an award of child support should not be determined on the basis of the non-custodial parent's standard of living. It is to be made for the child's current needs based upon an appropriate standard of living. It is not for the purpose of saving portions of it for future use. Also, the court warned that trial judges must be cognizant of the fact that "to raise [the mother's] standard of living through the vehicle of child support would constitute the imposition of an unauthorized obligation on the part of the father toward the mother," citing with approval, <u>Kathy</u> <u>G.J. v. Arnold D.,</u> 501 N.Y.S. 2d 58 (1986), cert. den., 107 S. Ct. 927 (1987).

Additionally, it should be remembered that child support payments are not to be windfalls, but rather are designed to provide adequate support for the upbringing of a child, <u>Marriage of Bush</u>, 547 N.E. 2d 590 (Ill. App. 3d 1989), and <u>Marriage of Patterson</u>, 920 P. 2d 450 (Kan. Ct. App. 1996).

Another side of Petitioner's argument has to do with what she perceives to be an apparent erosion of the presumption of correctness as to scheduled guideline child support awards. She contends, as did Judge Griffin in her dissent,⁵ that such presumptive awards may now be easily overcome by the obligor challenging them by proof that the child actually "needs less." Respondent submits that the majority view is not quite that simplistic, nor are Florida trial judges quite that naive!

Respondent reads the majority opinion as saying that the residential custodial

⁵<u>Finley</u>, supra, at 350 and 351.

parent must, once guideline support is challenged by the obligor, be prepared to establish by credible evidence that the present and proposed standard of living for the minor child, as well as existing and reasonably foreseeable needs compatible with an appropriate and comfortable lifestyle for him or her are possible only by the trial judge approving the scheduled payments without any sort of deviation downward,

By this analysis, the trial court is then placed in a position to immediately evaluate the statutory factors enumerated in F.S. 61.30(1)(a) and accurately assess them in an initial or modified award. These would include within the formula the provable components of: present living and special financial needs, reasonably foreseeable financial needs, the present and proposed standard of living of the child, and lastly, and most important of all, a practical and common sense approach to supplying the minor child with an appropriate and comfortable lifestyle in keeping with the combined financial resources of the parents.

Respondent submits that trial judges live in the real world! They will clearly understand a judicial directive from this Court mandating that they exercise their judicial discretion as suggested under this point of law.

POINT TWO

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ORDERING THAT RESPON-DENT PAY THE SUM OF \$3,000 PER MONTH AS CHILD SUPPORT TO THE GUARDIAN OF THE PROPERTY AND TO BE PLACED IN A GUARDIANSHIP SAVINGS AC-COUNT AND ALSO THAT NO SAVINGS, TRUST, OR GUARDIANSHIP ACCOUNT IS NECESSARY WHEN PAYMENTS TO THEM BY THE RESPONDENT WOULD BE IN EXCESS OF THE REASONABLE AND BONA FIDE NEEDS OF THE MINOR CHILD AT AN ESTABLISHED STANDARD OF LIVING AND AS INITIALLY DETER-MINED BY THE TRIAL COURT IN ITS FINDINGS OF FACT.

Petitioner agrees with Respondent that the trial court erred in establishing a guardianship savings account.⁶ The disagreement, of course, pertains to the level of child support to be paid by Respondent for the minor child,

Implicit in the extensive findings of fact made by the trial judge is the conclusion

that the sum of \$2,000 is a reasonable monthly parental contribution to be made by Respondent for the support of his daughter and in addition to his obligation to pay health insurance, all medical, dental, drug and prescription expenses, and carry life insurance as security. It is also assumed that the trial court's reasoning extended to the net take-home earnings of Petitioner as an experienced nail technician and her reciprocal duty to contribute to the support of the minor child from this source of income.

Respondent submits that the \$3,000 per month award, or even any other lower

⁶It should be noted that the majority opinion does not specifically reject the use of a guardianship trust or savings account in cases where good cause has been shown such as the custodial parent's squandering the child support money or not properly accounting for its use, <u>Finley</u>, at 344. This acknowledgment, Respondent suggests, is one of the reasons that <u>Finley</u> does not either expressly or directly conflict with <u>Boyt</u>. The Fifth District declined the use of this mechanism, while the Second District approved it. The difference is not with the rationale, but when the remedy is to be employed.

separate award, would have no support in the record since the trial evidence did not reflect a present, special, individual, or financial need for the minor child which was not otherwise subsumed in the \$2,000 direct monthly support being paid to Petitioner or, alternatively, which cannot be defrayed by her from her own sources of income.

Finally, the Final Judgment proposes no ascertainable standard nor enumerates any factors to be used in evaluating when and how the \$36,000 per year contribution, or any other lower amounts, would be used for the future benefit of the minor child.

It is important to note that the direct child support award made to Petitioner constituted almost 100% of all living needs for her and members of her household as reflected by her initial Financial Affidavit and was within \$500 of the monthly figure she testified at trial she was presently spending for the minor child (R 5 and TR 91-95).⁷

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